



A THESIS

FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Effects of *Ecklonia cava* on the growth of lactic acid bacteria and the improvement of innate immune response of olive flounder *(Paralichthys olivaceus)*

WONWOO LEE

Department of Marine Life Sciences

GRADUATESCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

2013.08



A THESIS

FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Effects of *Ecklonia cava* on the growth of lactic acid bacteria and the improvement of innate immune response of olive flounder *(Paralichthys olivaceus)*

WONWOO LEE

Department of Marine Life Sciences

GRADUATESCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

2013.08



Effects of *Ecklonia cava* on the growth of lactic acid bacteria and the improvement of innate immune response of olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*)

WONWOO LEE (Supervised by professor You-Jin Jeon)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

August, 2013

This thesis has been examined and approved by

Thesis director, Choon Bok Song, Prof. Marine Life Science

Kyeong-Jun Lee, Prof. Marine Life Science

Joon Bum Jeong, Prof. Marine Life Science

Yong-Seok Ahn, Ph.D. Research Institute of Processing from Jeju Fisher Food, Choung Ryong Fisheries Co., LTD

You-Jin Jeon, Prof. Marine Life Science

2013.08

Date

Department of Marine Life Sciences GRADUATE SCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY





CONTENTS

국문초록vi
LIST OF FIGURESxiv
LIST OF TABLESxvii
Part 1.Effect of <i>Ecklonia cava</i> on the growth of lactic acid bacteria (LAB)
and pathogen bacteria.
ABSTRACT2
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Preparation of samples6
Preparation of ethanol, aqueous, and enzymatic extracts from <i>E. cava</i>
Preparation of molecular weight fractionsfromCelluclast extract of <i>E. cava.</i> 7
Isolation of a polysaccharide from > 30 kDa fraction of <i>E. cava</i> Celluclast extract
LAB culture7



Pathogen bacteria culture	8
Colony count assay	8
Statistical analysis	9

RESULTS
The original E. cava showed the highest growth effect on the growth of LAB12
The Celluclastextract of <i>E. cava</i> showed the highest effects on the growth of <i>L</i> .
plantarum15
The >30 kDa fraction from the Celluclastextract of <i>E. cava</i> markedly increased
the growth of <i>L. plantarum</i> 18
The crude polysaccharide isolated from >30 kDa fraction of the <i>E. cava</i>
Celluclastextract markedly and dose-dependently increased the growth of L.
plantarum18
The original <i>E. cava</i> , Celluclast and 100% ethanol extracts showed anti-bacteria
activities on pathogen bacteria21
The original <i>E. cava</i> improved the production of the secondary metabolites from
L. plantarum in MRS medium25



Part 2.Effect of Ecklonia cava on the growth and host immune response in

in vivo system.

ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	

MATI	ERIALS AND METHODS	.39
	Preparation of samples	.39
	Preparation of ethanol extracts from <i>E. cava</i> (EPE)	.39
	Pathogen bacteria culture	.39
	Preparation of the original E. cava, EPS, and L. plantarum supplemented diets	.41
	Fish	.41



Body weight and mortality measurement42
Blood sampling
Physiological and chemical analysis of blood42
Nitroblue tetrazolium reduction analysis (NBT)43
Lysozyme activity43
Myeloperoxidase (MPO) assay44
Challenge test45
Polymerase ChainReaction (PCR)45
Statistical analysis



The supplements of the 1% original <i>E. cava</i> showed the highest respiratory
activityin Oliveflounder52
The supplements of the 1% original <i>E. cava</i> showed the highest lysozyme
activityin Oliveflounder54
The supplements of the 1% original E. cava showed the highest
myeloperoxidase activityin Oliveflounder57
The supplements of the 1% original <i>E. cava</i> and 0.1% and/or 0.5% EPE
markedly decreased the cumulative mortality of Oliveflounder57

DISCUSSION	 54



국문초록

사람이 생활하고 있는 지구에는 수많은 미생물들이 서식하고 있다. 자구상의 모든 생물들은 이러한 미생물들에게 오염되거나 함께 공존하면서 살아가고 있다. 사람도 예외 없이 태어나기 전 어머니의 뱃속에서부터 미생물과 함께 살아가고 있다. 이러한 미생물들은 대부분 사람과 직접적인 연관없이 살아가지만, 일부의 미생물은 사람에게 질병을 일으키기도 하고, 오히려 건강하게 살수 있도록 도움 을 주면서 살아가기도 한다. 그 중에서도 사람이 태어나면서 외부(소화관, 구강, 인후, 코, 머리, 피부, 질 등)에 부착하여 살아가는 정상 미생물균총들은 병원 미 생물과 달리 사람의 외부에서 유익균과 유해균으로 잘 균형을 이루어 정착해있다. 만약 병원미생물에 감염되어 유해균의 좋은 성장환경을 만들게 되면 감염증이 발생하기 쉽게되어 사람이 질병에 걸리게 되고, 반대로 우리가 먹는 음식 등을 통해서 유익균의 성장환경이 좋게 되면 병원균의 감염을 억제하고 성장을 방해하 게 될 뿐만 아니라 우리 몸의 면역을 활성화시켜 질병의 발생을 억제한다. 그러 므로 사람에게 유익균을 잘 정착하게 하고, 잘 정착한 유익균을 관리하면 다양한 질병의 발생을 억제 할 수 있다.



vi

일찍이 메치니코프는 사람의 소화관에 유익균이 증가하게 되면 사람의 장수에 도움을 줄 수 있다고 주장했으며, 이러한 유익균이 많다는 것은 다르게 표현하면 우리몸에 유산균이 많다는 것을 전제로 한다. 건강에 유익한 유산균은 탄수화물 을 이용하여 젖산(lactic acid) 등을 다량 생산하는 세균으로 단백질을 분해해서 부 패시키는 능력은 없다. 이러한 유산균의 대부분은 편성혐기성성균(Obligate anaerobe) 또는 통성혐기성균(facultative anaerobe)인 *Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium* 속 세균들이다.

이렇게 사람의 건강을 증진시키기 위해 장내 유산균을 늘리는 연구는 1800년 대 후반부터 시작되었으며, 최근 기술발전과 사람 장내 미생물 군집에 대한 연구 가 활발하게 이루어짐에 따라, 유산균 증식에 대한 연구도 다시 수면위로 부상하 고 있다. 그 중 프로바이오틱스는 '살아있는 미생물로서 적정량을 섭취할 경우 숙 주에 도움이 되어 건강효과를 주는 것'으로 정의 되고 있으며, 섭취 시 장에 정착 하여 장내 미생물균총의 일부가 되어 pH와 같은 주요 장내 환경적인 요인을 조 절하고 bacteriocins과 같은 항균 물질을 생산하여 장내 미생물균총의 구성에 상 당한 영향을 줄 수 있다.

이러한 프로바이오틱스의 증식과 생존에 도움을 주는 요인들을 통틀어 프리바 이오틱스라고 부른다. 현재까지 이러한 프리바이오틱스로 알려진 성분으로는 oligosaccharides (Fructo-oligosaccharides, Isomalto-oligosaccharides, Lactilol,

vii



Lactosucrose, Lactulose, Pyrodextrins, Soy oligosaccharides, Xylo-oligosaccharides 등)와 식이섬유가 있다.이들은 주로 bifidogenic 요인으로서 불리워지며, bifidobacteria의 성장을 자극한다고 알려 있다.

한국의 남해안이나 제주 연안에 서식하고 있는 다시마목(Laminariales)의 다시마 과(Alariaceae)에 속한 감태(Ecklonia cava)는 이미 이전 연구들을 통해서 혈압 및 혈중 콜레스테롤의 조정, 항염증, 면역활성 자극효능 및 항균이나 항산화, 항바이 러스 같은 생리활성이 검증된 해조류이다. 하지만 추출물의 수율이 낮고, 추출하 는 과정에서 많은 유효성분이 버려지고 있으며, 그 성분에 있어 대부분을 차지하 는 알긴산이나 후코이단 같은 다당류의 특징상 인체흡수가 용이하지 못하다는 단 점을 내포하고 있다. 이러한 문제점의 해결 방안으로 이번 연구에서는 다당류를 다량 함유한 해조류 감태의 유산균증식 효과를 증명하고 그 이차대사산물의 유해 균을 억제활성을 평가하였다.

또한, 감태의 유산균 증식과 유해균 억제 효과를 바탕으로 감태가 양식넙치에미 치는성장효과, 병원성미생물에대한 넙치 장내에서의프리바이오틱스 및사료첨가제 로써의상업적가치를효과를 검증하여 기존에 연구된 단순 항생제 대신 유해 미생 물 억제 효과와 생산성 향상을 동시에 갖고 있는 새로운 천연항생제의 가능성을 평가하고자 하였다.

먼저 제주도에 소재한 아쿠아그린텍㈜에서 구매한 총 6가지의 제주산 천연자원

viii



(감귤박, 당근박, 섬오가피, 우뭇가사리, 파래, 감태)을 1% 첨가한 배지에 프로바이 오틱스로 가장 많이 사용되는 3종의 유산균(Lactobacillus brevis, Lactobacillus pentosus, Lactobacillus plantarum)을 접종하여 유산균의 증식효과를 확인 하였다. 유산균의 증식 효과를 확인한 결과, 다른 5종의 천연물 자원과 비교하여 감태의 유산균 증식 효과가 3 ~ 3.5 배 이상 증가한 것을 확인 할 수 있었다. 이렇게 높 은 증식 효과를 보인 감태의 배지내 최적 첨가농도를 확인하기 위해서 배지 내 첨가 농도별(0, 0.01, 0.1, 1, 10 mg/ml)로 확인한 결과에서도 첨가 농도에 따라 증 식효과가 늘어 났으며, 그중 가장 효율적으로 증식효과를 보인 1mg/ml를 최적 첨가 농도로 선정하였다. 더 다양한 유산균의 증식효과를 평가하기 위해 감태 원 시료와 감태에서 추출한 4종(물 추출물, 효소 추출물, 50% 에탄올 추출물, 100% 에탄올 추출물)을 첨가한 배지에 프로바이오틱스로 많이 사용되는 3종 (Lactobacillus brevis, Lactobacillus pentosus, Lactobacillus plantarum)과 3종의 유 산균(lactobacillus casei, lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus, lactobacillus reuteri)을 추가로 접종하여 증식효과를 확인하였다. 그 결과, 감태 원시료와 감태 효소 추출물이 가장 높은 증식 효과를 보여 주었고, 그 다음 감태 물추출물, 감태 50% 에탄올 추출물 순으로 증식효과가 보였으며, 감태 100% 에탄올 추출물은 증식효과가 미비하거나 없는 것으로 평가 되었다. 따라서 감태의 성분들 중 유산 균을 증식 시키는 효과는 다당류 또는 단백질로 판단되어, 정확한 성분을 확인하





기 위하여 5종의 당 분해효소와 5종의 단백질 분해효소를 사용하여 효소추출을 수행하였으며, 6종의 유산균 중, 실제 산업적으로 가장 많이 사용되며, 이미 사료 내 프로바이오틱스 제품으로 널리 쓰이는 *Lactobacillus plantarum*을 이용하여 이 후, 연구를 수행하였다.

효소추출을 수행한 결과, 수율이 약 20%에서 40%까지 나타났으며, 10종의 효 소추출물들이 모두 유산균을 증식시켰으며, 그 중 5종의 당분해효소 추출물들이 단백질 분해효소추출물들 보다 유산균 증식효과가 높다는 것을 확인하였고, 그 중에서도 Celluclast효소추출물이 가장 높은 증식효과를 보여 다음 실험을 위해 사용하였다.

Celluclast효소추출물로부터 유효성분을 좀 더 분리하기 위해 막분리 시스템을 이용하여 분리하였고, 얻어진 30kDa이상/이하의 분획물을 가지고 유산균을 증식 을 확인하였다. 그 결과, 두 분획물 모두, 유산균을 증식 시켰으나, 30kDa이상의 분획물이 더 좋은 효과를 보였다. 그래서 30kDa이상의 분획물로부터 에탄올 분획 법을 사용하여 다당류 성분을 침전시켜 분리하였다. 그 결과, 분리된 감태 유래 다당류 (*E. cava* Crude Polysaccharide: ECP)는 농도 의존적으로 유산균을 증식시켰 다.

또한, 감태 원시료와 감태에서 추출한 4종(물 추출물, 효소 추출물, 50% 에탄올 추출물, 100% 에탄올 추출물)을 첨가한 배지에 어병균 5종(*Edwardsiella tarda,*





Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio anguillarum, Vibrio harveyi, Streptococcus parauberis) 을 접종하여 그 증식률을 확인한 결과, 감태 100% 에탄올 추출물에서 가장 우수 한 어병균 증식 억제효과를 보인 것을 확인 할 수 있었다. 그 중 가장 높은 효 과를 보인 3종(Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio harveyi)에서 배지 내 감태 100% 에탄올 추출물의 첨가 농도 별로 확인을 한 결과에서도, 농도의존적 으로 상당하게 증식을 억제한 것을 확인 할 수 있었다.

감태로 증식된 유산균의 이차대사산물의 어병균 증식 억제 효과를 평가한 결과 에서는 감태 원시료와 효소추출물이 첨가되어 증식된 유산균에서 생성된 이차대 사산물이 어병균 3종(*Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio harveyi*)에 대 해서 높은 증식 억제 효과를 보였다. 따라서 감태의 첨가가 유산균을 증식시키고 증식되는 과정에서 다량으로 생성되는 물질이 bacteriocins과 같은 항균물질인 것 으로 확인 되었다.

따라서, 이러한 감태의 첨가 효과를 바탕으로 사료내 감태를 첨가하여 넙치 사 양시험을 수행하였다. 사양실험은 표선에 위치한 만해수산에서 300~350 g의 넙 치를 이용하여 수행하였으며, 12개의 수조에 각각 1,800마리의 넙치를 순치한 후, 3개의 수조마다 각각 다른 사료(감태 1%첨가, 감태 에탄올 추출물 0.1% 첨가, 감 태 에탄올 추출물 0.5% 첨가)를 제작하여 16주간 실험하였다.

사료 내 감태 1% 첨가는넙치성장에유의적인효과를나타내었으며사료에대한적정

xi



첨가농도는 1%였다. 한편, 감태 에탄을 추출물 0.5% 첨가 사료를섭이한넙치에서 는감태 1% 첨가 사료보다낮은성장을보였다. 이러한결과는감태 1% 첨가 사료가일 반사료 및 다른 첨가 사료에비해서양식넙치의성장에효과적인것으로보이며따라서 감태 1% 첨가 사료는양식넙치의성장및사료효율개선에효과적인사료첨가제로사료 된다. 또한감태 1% 첨가 사료를 섭이한 넙치의 혈액을 분석한 결과, GOT, GPT 값 은낮아지고 Hematocrit 값은 높아졌으며, NBT활성, 라이소자임 활성, MPO활성은 일반사료를 먹은 넙치에 비해 크게 증가하는 것을 보였다. 이로써, 감태 1% 첨가 사료는 넙치의 면역력개선에효과적으로작용하는것으로생각된다.

그러므로, 감태 1% 첨가 사료로 섭이한 넙치가 갖는 면역증강 능력을 확인 하 기 위해, Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio harveyi를 접종하여 공격실 험을 수행한 하였다. 접종 후 2주간의 폐사율을 측정한 결과, 감태 1% 첨가 사료 로 섭이한 넙치가대조구에비해낮은사망률을보였다. 이는감태의 첨가로 인해 증가 한 유산균의길항특성(probiotics)으로양식넙치에있어서면역력을증가시키고생존율을 높이는것으로판단 된다.

제주에서 다량 발생하는 해조류인 감태는 시판되고있는양식사료첨가제인키토산, 베타글루칸그리고어보산에비해 가공단계가 적고, 건조나 사료 내 첨가에 있어 활 용이 원활하여, 다른사료첨가제들에비해양식사료첨가제로써상대적으로효과가좋은 것으로사료된다.

xii



지금까지의 결과를 통해 감태는 프리바이오틱스로서 유산균의 대량 증식을 도 우며, 사료 내에 첨가 시 어류의 성장과 면역력을 크게 증가 시킨다는 것을 확인 할 수 있었다. 이것은 제주에서 나는 감태가 연구적인 가치뿐만이 아니라 산업적 으로도 유용될 수 있다는 사실을 이번 연구를 통해 다시 한번 확인하였다.



LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1-1. The lactic acid bacteria growth effect of jeju natural products. Notx, S1 Citrus by-products, S2 - Carrot by-products, S3 - Acanthopanax koreanum, S4 -Gelidium amansii, S5 – Enteromorpha, S6 – Ecklonia cava(E. cava)
- Figure 1-2. The lactic acid bacteria growth effect of *E. cava*.
- Figure 1-3. The lactic acid bacteria growth effect of *E. cava*enzymatic extracts. AMG, Ce: Celluclast, UI: Ultraflozyme, Te: Termamyl, Vi: Viscozyme, Ne: Neutrase, AI: Alcalase, Fl: Flavourzyme, Pro: Protamex, Ko: Kojizyme
- Figure 1-4. Isolation and purification scheme of polysaccharides from E. cava
- Figure 1-5. Effect of fractionated polysaccharides on growth of lactic acid bacteria.,□> 30 kDa fraction; ■<30 kDa fraction
- Figure 1-6. Effect of fractionated polysaccharide (> 30 kDa fraction) on growth of lactic acid bacteria.
- Figure 1-7. The antibacterial effect in accordance with the extraction method.
- Figure 1-8. The production rate of secondary metabolite of L. plantarumtreated with E. cava.



- Figure 1-9. The antibacterial effectof secondary metabolite of *L. plantarum*treated with *E. cava*.
- Figure 2-1. Growth rate of Olive flounder fed by three different diets (\bigstar 1% *E. cava*, × 0.1% EPE, \bigstar 0.5% EPE) and \blacksquare control diet for 16 weeks (started with body weight : 350 ± 38 g)
- Figure 2-2. Number of dead fish of Olive flounderfed by three different diets (◆1% *E. cava*, × 0.1% EPE, ▲ 0.5% EPE) and control diet for 16 weeks (started with body weight : 350±38 g)
- Figure 2-3. Total mortality ratio of Olive flounderfed by three different diets (◆1% *E. cava*,
 × 0.1% EPE, ▲ 0.5% EPE) and control diet for 16 weeks (started with body weight : 350±38 g)
- Figure 2-4. Respiratory burst activity of neutrophils of Olive flounderfed by three different diets (1% *E. cava*, 0.1% EPE, 0.5% EPE) and control diet for 16 weeks.
- Figure 2-5. Serum lysozyme activity of Olive flounderfed by three different diets (1% *E. cava*, 0.1% EPE, 0.5% EPE) and control diet for 16 weeks.
- Figure 2-6. Myeloperoxidase activityof Olive flounderfed by three different diets (1% *E. cava*, 0.1% EPE, 0.5% EPE) and control diet for 16 weeks.
- Figure 2-7. Agarose gel electrophoresis of amplicons generated by PCR of specific regions of *Vibrio harveyi,Edwardsiella tarda* and *Streptococcus iniae*.lane1, kidney in *V*.



harveyi group; lane 2, kidney in *E.tarda* group; lane 3, kidney in *S. iniae* group; lane 4, Liver in *V. harveyi* group; lane 5, Liver in *E.tarda* group; lane 6, Liver in *S.*

iniae group ; lane 7, 8, kidney and Liver of control group; M, 100bp DNA ladder.

- Figure 2-8. Cumulated mortality of Olive flounderfed by three different diets (◆1% *E. cava*, × 0.1% EPE, ▲ 0.5% EPE) and regular diets (● withoutinfected, ■with infected) for 14 days of after challenge with *Edwardsiella tarda*.
- Figure 2-9. Cumulated mortality of Olive flounderfed by three different diets (◆1% *E. cava*, × 0.1% EPE, ▲ 0.5% EPE) and regular diets (● withoutinfected, ■with infected) for 14 days of after challenge with *Streptococcus iniae*.
- Figure 2-10. Cumulated mortality of Olive flounderfed by three different diets (◆1% *E. cava*,
 × 0.1% EPE, ▲ 0.5% EPE) and regular diets (● withoutinfected, ■with infected) for 14 days of after challenge with *Vibrio harveyi*.



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1.List of strains used for experiment.

Table 1-2. List of strains used of antibacterial experiment.

Table 1-3. The lactic acid bacteria growth effect in accordance with the extraction method.

Table 1-4. The antibacterial effect in accordance with the extraction method.

Table 1-5 The production rate of secondary metabolite in accordance with the extraction method.

Table 1-6The antibacterial effect of secondary metabolite in accordance with the extraction method.

Table2-1 List of strains used of antibacterial experiment.

Table2-2Primer sets used in the present study for the detection of three bacteria.

Table2-3 The physiological and chemical analysis in blood.



Part I.

Effect of *Ecklonia cava* on the growth of lactic

acid bacteria (LAB) and pathogen bacteria



ABSTRACT

Prebiotics that stimulate the growth and/or function of beneficial intestinal microorganisms are also so important for confer health beneficial ingredients. The purpose of this study is to investigate whether Jeju natural productssuch as seaweeds can play as beneficial prebiotics via inducing growth of probiotics including lactic acid bacteria(LAB) ((Lactobacillus brevis(L. brevis), Lactobacillus casei(L. casei), Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus(L. delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus), Lactobacillus pentosus (L. pentosus), Lactobacillus plantarum(L. plantarum), and Lactobacillus reuteri(L. reuteri)). The original E. cava increased the growth of LAB and itsCelluclastextract showed the highest effects on the growth of L. plantarum. Also, the >30 kDa fraction from the Celluclastextract of E. cava and its crude polysaccharide markedly and dose-dependently increased the growth of L. plantarum. Moreover, the originalE. cava, Celluclast and 100% ethanol extracts showed antibacteria activities on pathogen bacteria. Interestingly, the secondary metabolites produced by the originalE. cava from L. plantarumin MRS medium showed the anti-bacterial activities on pathogen bacteria (Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio anguillarum, Vibrio harveyi and Streptococcus parauberis). According to these results, E. cavaconsisted of a polysaccharide of might be a natural prebiotic via enhancing LAB and inhibiting pathogen bacteria. Also, our conclusion from this evidence is that E. cava can be used and applied as a useful prebiotic.



1.INTRODUCTION

Seaweeds are a widely available source of biomass, considering that over two million tons are either harvested from the oceans or cultured annually for food or phycocolloid production (Ahn et al, 2008). The three basic types of seaweeds are brown (Phaeophyta), red (Rhodophyta) and green (Chlorophyta), divided according to the dominant pigment, respectively, xanthophylls, fucoxanthin, phycoerythrin and chlorophyll a and b (Ahn et al, 2008). The brown seaweeds abound in polyphenols and polysaccharides that possess many bioactive properties (Ahn et al., 2008, Heo et al., 2005a and 200b, Siriwardhana et al., 2004; Ruperez & Saura-Calixto., 2001). AlariaceaeEcklonia cava(E. cava) is rich in xanthopophyll, fucoxathin, vitamins, vitamin precursors such as α -tocopherol, β -carotene, niacin, thiamin and ascorbic acid, and polysaccharides such as fucoidan, alginates, fucans and laminarans, which are water-soluble dietary fibers and phycocolloids(Ahn et al, 2008). In addition, E. cava grows plentifully near Jeju Island of Korea (Guiry & Bulunden., 1991) and, reportedly, contains polyphenol and polysaccharide compounds than other brown seaweeds (Heo et al., 2005a). For few years, biological activity studies showed that E. cava has anti-oxidant in vitro, anti-coagulant, anti-cancer, immunomodulation, anti-inflammation and immune activation effects(Athukorala et al., 2006, Ahn et al., 2007, 2008 and 2010; Kim et al., 2006a). In particular, previous studies have showed *Lactobacillus brevis*-fermented *Ecklonia cava* (E. cava) has anti-inflammatory, radio-protective and anti-oxidant effects. In addition, the fermented E. cava using bacteriaLactobacillus brevis increased the protein contents in comparison with the non-fermented E. cava (Lee et al., 2011 and 2013). From these results, we thought that the protein contents increased by fermentation process might be related to the growth of Lactobacillus brevis induced during fermentation process. Normally, Lactobacillus



brevis is a kind of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) known as a common type of probiotics that may confer a health benefit on the host. For many years, probiotic bacteria have been known to confer health benefits to the consumer (Blum et al., 2002). Probiotics including LAB was shown to prevent adherence, establishment, and replication of several enterophathogens through antimicrobial mechanism and modulation of the host mucosal immune response (Blum et al., 2002). Therefore, inducing growth of probiotic including LAB is so important. At these points, prebiotics that stimulate the growth and/or function of beneficial intestinal microorganisms are also so important for confer health beneficial ingredients. Indeed, many researchers have reported that plants and seaweed played roles as prebiotics via inducing growth of probiotics such as LAB.

Prebiotics were defined as non-digestible foodingredients that beneficially affect the host by selectively stimulatingthe growth and/or the activity of one or a limited number ofbacteria in the colon, and thus improve host health (Gibson et al., 1995, Teitelbaum and Walker, 2002, Grimoud et al., 2010). Most ofthe probiotic strains belong to the Lactobacillus and Bifidobacteriumgenera, which are health promoting bacteria forming part of thebalanced intestinal microbiota (Ventura et al., 2009, Grimoud et al., 2010). Recent studies indicated that the main prebiotics are fibres and carbohydrates, such as resistant starch, wheat bran,inulin or oligosaccharide, which are short polymers of glycosidicresidues such as fructose in fructooligosaccharides or galactose ingalactooligosaccharides and have been demonstrated to selectively (Grimoud et al., 2010, Boucher et al., 2003, Rousseau et al., 2005). As indicated in above, *E. cava* can be a source for fibres and carbohydrates known as main prebiotics. However, various studies related with E. cava have reported, there is no report about the possibility of *E. cava* as a prebiotic.

Therefore, the present study investigated whether *E. cava* play as beneficial prebiotics via inducing growth of probiotics including LAB such as *Lactobacillus brevis, Lactobacillus*



casei, Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus, Lactobacillus pentosus, Lactobacillus plantarum and Lactobacillus reuteri and inhibiting growth of pathogen bacteria such as Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio anguillarum, Vibrio harveyi and Streptococcus parauberis.



2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Preparation of samples

Citrus by-products, Carrot by-products, *Acanthopanax koreanum, Gelidium amansii*, and *Enteromorpha* were kindly provided from Aqua Green Technology Co., LTD and *Ecklonia cava*(*E. cava*) was collected from the coast of Jeju Island, South Korea. Then, they were respectively washed with fresh water, freeze-dried and pulverized into powder with a grinder. The freeze-dried samples were used for next experiments.

2.2. Preparation of ethanol, aqueous, and enzymatic extracts from E. cava

Here, aqueous and 50% and 100% ethanol extracts were prepared from *E. cava*. After freeze-dry, the *E. cava* powder (1 g) was respectively homogenized in 50% and 100% ethanol and distilled waters (100 ml). After 24 h, the samples were obtained and kept at -20° C for further experiments.

To prepare an enzymatic extract of *E. cava,E. cava*powderwas used for the enzymatic extraction technique using followed previously reported method (Heo et al., 2005). Each one gram of the powdered *E. cava* was homogenized with 100ml of distilled water (from pH 4.5 and pH 8.0)and 100 μ g or 100 μ l of carbohydrases (AMG, celluclast, Ultraflo, Termamyl and Viscozyme) or proteases (Neutrase, Alcalase, Flavourzyme, Protamex andKojizyme) (Novo Nordisk, Bagsvaerd, Denmark). The reactant was adjusted to the optimum pH and temperature range of the respective enzyme and enzymatic reaction was performed for 24 h(Heo et al., 2005a). Following digestion, the digest was boiled for 10 min at 100°C to



inactivate the enzymes. After centrifugation (3000 rpm, for 20 min at 4° C), the supernatants were adjusted to pH 7.0 hereafter and designated to enzymatic extracts. The samples were kept at -20°C and used for further experiments.

2.3. Preparation of molecular weight fractionsfrom theCelluclast extract of E. cava

To preparedifferent molecular weight fractions, the Celluclast extract of *E. cava* was applied to Lab scale TFF system (PHILOS) using micro-filtration membrane (30 kDa). Then, all the fractions (whole extract, >30 kDa fraction, and <30 kDa fraction) were freeze-dried. The freeze-dried samples were separately evaluated the growth effects on LAB.

2.4. Isolation of a polysaccharide from > 30 kDa fraction of *E. cava*Celluclast extract

A polysaccharide was isolated from > 30 kDa fraction of the *E. cava*Celluclast extract by ethanol precipitation according to slightly revised method indicated in previous study (Athukorala et al., 2009). The > 30 kDa fraction of *E. cava*Celluclast extract (1 L) was mixed with 2 L of 99.5% ethanol for 24 h at 4°C. After centrifugation at 10000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C, the crude polysaccharide was collected from its precipitant. Then, the crude polysaccharide isolated from the > 30 kDa fraction of *E. cava*Celluclast extract was freezedried and used for next experiments.

2.5. Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) culture

Six kinds of lactic acid bacteria(LAB) (Lactobacillus brevis(L. brevis), Lactobacillus



casei(L. casei), Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus(L. delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus), Lactobacillus pentosus (L. pentosus), Lactobacillus plantarum(L. plantarum), and Lactobacillus reuteri(L. reuteri)) were obtained from the KCCM (Korean Culture Center of Microorganisms, Seoul, Korea) (Table 1-1). These bacteria were incubated in MRS broth or MRS agar at 30 °C until use.

2.6. Pathogen bacteria culture

Five kinds of pathogen bacteria such as *Edwardsiella tarda* (*E. tarda*), *Streptococcus iniae* (*S. iniae*), *Vibrio anguillarum* (*V. anguillarum*), *Vibrio harveyi* (*V. harveyi*) and *Streptococcus parauberis* (*S. parauberis*) were obtained from the KCTC (Korean Collection for Type Culture, Daejeon, Korea) (Table 1-2). These bacteria were incubated in BHIA broth or agar for *E. tarda*, *S. iniae*, *V. anguillarum*, and *S. parauberis* and TSA broth or agar for *V. harveyi*at 25 °C until use.

2.7. Colony count assay

To evaluate the effects of the samples on the growth of LAB, colony count assay was performed. First, the freeze-dried samples(10 mg) were respectively added to the MRS broth (1 ml) for LAB cultureand autoclaved. Then, LAB(10^7 colony forming units, CFU) were incubated at 30 °C in MRS broth containing each samples prepared in above for 24 h. Then, the LAB and pathogen bacteria were respectively diluted and incubated on MRS agar at 30 °C for 24 h. The formed CFUs were counted. The relative growth rates were calculated as % based on the non-added MRS broth.



Next, to investigate the anti-bacterial effects of the samples onsix pathogen bacteria, colony count assay was performed. Each pathogen bacteria (10^3 CFU) were incubated at 25° C in BHA broth containing each samples prepared in above for 24 h. Then, the pathogen bacteria were respectively diluted and incubated on BHIA or TSA agar at 25° C for 24 h. The formed CFUs were counted as described earlier. The relative growth rates were calculated as % based onnon-added BHIA or TSA broth.

2.8. Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed using the statistical package for the social science (SPSS) package for Windows (Version 10). Values were expressed as means \pm standard error (SE). A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.



Table 1-1.List of strains used for experiment.

_

	Strains	Number
	Lactobacillus brevis	KCCM 40399
	Lactobacillus casei	KCCM 12452
Lactic acid	Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus	KCCM 35463
Bacteria (LAB)	Lactobacillus pentosus	KCCM 40997
	Lactobacillus plantarum	KCCM 12116
	Lactobacillus reuteri	KCCM 40717



Table 1-2. List of strains used of antibacterial experiment.

	Strains	Number
Pathogen bacteria	Edwardsiella tarda	KCTC 12267
	Streptococcus iniae	KCTC 3657
	Vibrio anguillarum	KCTC 2711
	Vibrio harveyi	KCTC 12724
	Streptococcus parauberis	KCTC 3651



2. RESULTS

3.1. The original E. cava showed the highest growth effect on the growth of LAB

To evaluate the effects of Jeju natural products on the growth of LAB, colony count assay was performed. First, six kinds of Jeju natural products (Citrus by-products, Carrot byproducts, Acanthopanax koreanum, Gelidium amansii, Enteromorpha, and E. cava) were added to the culture medium and respectively incubated with 3 kinds of LAB such as L. pentosus, L. brevis, and L. plantarum for 24 h. Among the samples, the original E. *cava*showed the highest effect on the growth of the LAB, compared to non-treated LAB, whereas the other samples did not show (Fig. 1-1). In addition, the addition of the original E. cava dose-dependently increased the growth of three kinds of LAB and showed the higher growth of L. brevis and L. plantarum than that of L. pentosus (Fig. 1-2). This result indicated that the original E. cava might be a potential prebiotic via stimulating the growth of LAB. To more evaluate whether the original E. cava has the potential effect on the growth of the other strains of LAB, colony forming assay was performed. As indicated in table 1-1, the six kinds of LAB were used in this study. As indicated in Table 1-3, the original E. cavaenhanced the growth of all LAB including L. brevis, L. casei, L. delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus, L. pentosus, L. *plantarum*, and *L. reuteri*, in comparison with non-treated control. In particular, the original *E*. cava showed the higher growth effects on L. brevis and L. plantarum and respectively were about $352\pm15.3\%$ and $339\pm9.6\%$, compared to non-treated control (100%).





Figure.1-1.





Figure 1-2.


3.2. The Celluclastextract of *E. cava* showed the highest effect on the growth of *L. plantarum*

To identify what component play as an important role in the growth of LAB in the original *E. cava*, four type extracts were prepared by using distilled water, Celluclast enzyme and 50% and 100% ethanol. In Table 1-3, the three extracts of *E. cava* including aqueous extract, Celluclast extract, and 50% ethanol extract markedly increased the growth of all LAB used in this study, whereas the 100% ethanol extract did not show, compared to non-treated control. Interestingly, among the four extracts, the aqueous and Celluclast extracts showed the higher effects on the growth of the six LAB, compared to the other organic solvent extracts (50% and 100% ethanol extracts). Also, among them, the Celluclast extract of *E. cava* showed the highest growth effect on all LAB used in this study, compared to those of the others. In addition, the Celluclast extract of *E. cava* especially led to the higher growth of *L. brevis* and *L. plantarum*. These results indicate that the major components for the growth of LAB might be water-soluble components such as polysaccharides.

Next, the effects of the other 9 enzymatic extracts prepared by carbohydrases (AMG, Ultraflo, Termamyl and Viscozyme) or proteases (Neutrase, Alcalase, Flavourzyme, Protamex andKojizyme) on the growth of *L. plantarum*were evaluated. As shown in Fig. 1-3, the enzymatic extraction technique improved the extraction yields and among them, the AMG and Celluclast extracts showed the higher extraction efficiency (41.52% and 40.66%, respectively) than the others. Also, the 10 kinds of enzymatic extracts markedly increased the growth of *L. brevis*, compared to the non-treated control (Fig. 1-3). In particular, the Celluclast extract of *E. cava* showed the highest growth effect on *L. plantarum* compared to those of the others. Therefore, the Celluclast extract was selected for the next experiments.



						(%)	
			E. cava (1 mg/ml)				
10 ⁷ CFU/ml	Notx	Original	Water extract	Celluclast extract	50% ethanol extract	100% ethanol extract	
Lactobacillus brevis	100	352±15.3 [*]	293±3.1 [*]	345±6.2 [*]	214±13.6 [*]	115±9.4 [*]	
Lactobacillus casei	100	273±8.9 [*]	225±4.4 [*]	274±8.9 [*]	181±7.9 [*]	109±11.2	
Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus	100	195±3.2 [*]	177±6.6 [*]	204±11.7 [*]	136±6.4 [*]	104±6.7	
Lactobacillus pentosus	100	$265 \pm 7.9^{*}$	213±2.8 [*]	247±3.6 [*]	166±3.6 [*]	102±9.9	
Lactobacillus plantarum	100	339±9.6 [*]	268±5.6 [*]	* 337±10.5	*224±4.9	103±7.7	
Lactobacillus reuteri	100	$276 \pm 4.5^{*}$	225±2.3*	259±5.5 [*]	185±2.3 [*]	98±7.8	

Table 1-3. The lactic acid bacteria growth effect in accordance with the extraction method.





Figure 1-3.



3.3. The >30 kDa fraction from the Celluclastextract of *E. cava* markedly increased the growth of *L. plantarum*

To identify what component plays as an important role in the growth of LAB in the Celluclastextract of *E. cava*, two molecular weight fractions (>30 kDa and <30 kDa fractions) were prepared by an ultra-membrane filtration system using 30 kDa filter membrane (Fig. 1-4). Figure 1-5 indicated that two molecular weight fractions of Celluclast extracts of *E. cava*enhanced the growth of *L. plantarum*in dose-dependent manner, compared to the non-treated control. In particular, the >30 kDa fraction of the Celluclast extract of *E. cava* showed the higher growth effect on *L. plantarum*at all used concentrations than those of the <30 kDa fraction. This result indicates that any hydrophiliccomponent with the high molecular weight might be an important factor for the growth of *L. plantarum*.

3.4. The crude polysaccharide isolated from the >30 kDa fraction of the *E. cava* Celluclastextract markedly and dose-dependently increased the growth of *L. plantarum*

Normally, major components of *E. cava* are polyphenols of hydrophobic low molecular weight components and polysaccharides of hydrophilic high molecular weight components (Ahn et al., 2007 and 2011). At these points, the major component of the >30 kDa fraction might be a polysaccharide. Therefore, a crude polysaccharide was isolated from the>30 kDa fraction of the *E. cava* Celluclast extract by ethanol precipitation technique indicated in previous study (Fig. 1-4) (Ahn et al. 2007 and 2013).





Figure 1-4.





Figure 1-5.



The effect of the crude polysaccharide isolated from >30 kDa fraction of the *E. cava* Celluclast extract on the growth of *L. plantarum* was examined by colony count assay.Figure 1-6 showed that the crude polysaccharide isolated from the >30 kDa fraction of the *E. cava* Celluclast extract dose-dependently increased the growth of *L. plantarum* at the concentrations from 0.01 mg/ml to 1 mg/ml. In addition, the 1 mg/ml and 10 mg/ml of polysaccharides showed the similar growth effect on *L. plantarum*. This result indicates the major active compound for the growth of LAB is a polysaccharide component.

3.5. The original*E. cava*, Celluclast and 100% ethanol extracts showed the anti-bacterial activity on five pathogen bacteria

Next, to access whether the samples have anti-bacterial activities on the five kinds of pathogen bacteria, colony count assay was performed. As indicated in Table 1-4, the addition of the original *E. cava* and its four extracts (the original *E. cava*, aqueous, Celluclast, and 50% and 100% ethanol extracts) (1 mg/ml) effectively inhibited the growth of the four pathogen bacteria (*E. tarda, S. iniae, V. harveyi, and V. anguillarum*), but, did not show significant change in*S. parauber*. Especially, the 50% and 100% ethanol extracts of *E. cava* showed the higher anti-bacteria effects than those of the other samples. Also, as shown in Figure 1-7, the original *E. cava* and its 100% ethanol and Celluclast extractsdose-dependently and markedly decreased the growth of the pathogen bacteria (*E. tarda, S. iniae,* and *V. harveyi*), compared to non-treated control. These results indicate that both hydrophobic and hydrophilic compounds of the original *E. cava* have the beneficial anti-bacterial capacity via inhibiting the growth of the pathogen bacteria.





Figure 1-6.



						(%)
		E. cava (1 mg/ml)				
10 ³ CFU/ml	Notx	Original	Water extract	Celluclast extract	50% ethanol extract	100% ethanol extract
Edwardsiella tarda	100	$78 \pm 9.4^{*}$	72±8.5*	64±5.0 [*]	54±13.č	37±3.2 [*]
Streptococcus iniae	100	$81 \pm 2.7^*$	69±8.8*	$70 \pm 2.6^{*}$	46±3.3 [*]	43±5.6 [*]
Vibrio anguillarum	100	79±4.5 [*]	79±1.9 [*]	75±8.1 [*]	63±9.4 [*]	69±11.2 [*]
Vibrio harveyi	100	61±9.0 [*]	40±10.1 [*]	43±8.3 [*]	33±5.2 [*]	29±5.8 [*]
Streptococcus parauberis	100	99±9.6	93±7.7	90±15.6	87±4.4 [*]	86±8.1

Table 1-4. The antibacterial effect in accordance with the extraction method.





🔳 Notx, 🗌 Original E. cava, 🖾 Celluclast extract of E. cava, 🖂 100% ethanol extract of E. cava

Figure 1-7.



3.6. The original*E*. *cava* improved the production of the secondary metabolites from *L*. *plantarum* in MRS medium

Normally, prebiotics can produce secondary metabolites with the increased growth of LAB and the secondary metabolites can have biological activities such as the anti-bacterial activity. Therefore, here, the effects of the original *E. cava* and 100% ethanol extract on production of secondary metabolites from *L. plantarum* were investigated. The result was indicated in Figure 1-8. The original *E. cava* and its 100% ethanol extract did not induce the production of secondary metabolites in only MRS medium (Fig. 1-8 and Table 1-5). However, the addition of *L. plantarum* produced the 324.5±15.5 mg of the secondary metabolites in MRS medium. Interestingly, the addition of the original *E. cava* increased the amount of the secondary metabolites from the*L. plantarum*contained MRS medium(422.2 \pm 11.4 mg), whereas the addition of the 100% ethanol extract did not affect(313.8±28.4 mg), compared to that of the *L. plantarum*contained MRS medium.





Figure 1-8.



Table 1-5. The production rate of secondary metabolite in accordance with the extraction method.

	L. plantarum	L. Plantarum + E. cava	<i>L. Plantarum</i> + Celluclast extract	<i>L. Plantarum</i> + 100% EtOH ext
Secondary metabolite (mg)	324.5±15.5	422.2±11.4	376.5±11.2	313.8±28.4



3.7. The secondary metabolites produced by the original*E*. *cava* from the*L*. *plantarum*-containedMRS mediumshowed the anti-bacterial activity on the pathogen bacteria

Next, the anti-bacterial effect of the secondary metabolites produced from *L*. *plantarum*in MRS medium with/without the original *E. cava*, its Celluclast and 100% ethanol extracts were examined. In Table 1-6, the secondary metabolites produced by the addition of the original *E. cava* and Celluclast extract markedly inhibited the growth of pathogen bacteria (*E. tarda, S. iniae* and *V. harveyi*). In addition, the secondary metabolite produced by the original *E. cava* considerably inhibited the growth of three pathogen bacteria and they were dose-dependent (Fig. 1-9).





Concentration (mg/ml)

Figure 1-9.



Table 1-6. The antibacterial effect of secondary metabolite in accordance with the extraction method.

				(%)		
		Secondary metabolites (5 mg/ml)				
10 ³ CFU/ml	Notx	Original	Celluclast extract	100% ethanol extract		
Edwardsiella tarda	100	44±3.4*	37±4.7*	$87 \pm 6.7^{*}$		
Streptococcus iniae	100	31±5.5 [*]	29±6.4*	92±4.6 [*]		
Vibrio harveyi	100	36±3.3 [*]	$22\pm 4.1^{*}$	89±8.0 [*]		



3. Discussion

The present study first demonstrates that the polysaccharide component of *E. cava* is a potential prebiotic via enhancing the growth of probiotics such as LAB and inhibiting the growth of pathogen bacteria.

E. cava fermented by LAB probiotics including namely Lactobacillus brevis, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and Candida utilis have biological capacities on immune response and oxidative stress such as anti-inflammatory and anti-radio-protective effect (Lee et al.). In addition, the previous our studies showed that the fermentation processwithLAB probiotics increased the extraction yields and the protein contents in E. cava (Lee et al.). We also indicated the increased protein contents might be increased LBA products (Lee et al.). Interestingly, here, we showed that the original E. cava enhanced the growth of all LAB including L. brevis, L. casei, L. delbrueckii ssp. Bulgaricus, L. pentosus, L. plantarum, and L. reuteri, in comparison with non-treated control. In particular, the original E. cava highly enhanced the growth of L. brevis and L. plantarum. These results indicate the protein contents increased by the fermentation process were corresponded to the increased growth of LBA products. Also, the application of enzymatic extraction technique markedly improved the extraction yields in all the enzymatic extracts of E. cava, compared to its aqueous extract (Lee et al.). In this study, the aqueous and enzymatic extracts showed the higher effects on the growth of LBA products, compared to the ethanol extracts. Moreover, the Celluclast extract of E. cava showed the highest growth effect on L. plantarum compared to those of the others. At these points, this suggests that the extraction yields improved by the enzymatic extraction process in the fermented E. cava might be due to the increased growth of LBA products. This



also indicates the possibility of any hydrophilic component with the high molecular weight might be an important factor for the growth of *L. plantarum* as supported by the higher growth effect of the *E. cava* enzymatic extract on LBA products than its ethanol extracts.

Normally, seaweed fibre is a common constituent of the diet in Southeast Asia, whereas the Western world eaten raw or incorporated in food as emulsifiers and thickeners (Warrand et al., 2006, Ramnani et al., 2012). Most in vitro and in vivo studies suggest its inert nature and low ferment ability by gut microbiota (Ramnani et al., 2012, Dierick et al., 2008, Michel et al., 1996, Salvers et al., 1977). Recent papers reported that natural seaweed fibres are predominantly high molecular weight polymers that pass through the gut too rapidly to allow bacterial utilization (Deville et al., 2007, Warrand, 2006, Ramnani et al., 2012). Owing to the structural complexity, seaweed polysaccharides are resistant to degradation by gut bacteria (Ramnani et al., 2012). With these points, various saccharide compounds of seaweeds have potential possibilities as prebiotics (Ramnani et al., 2012, Grimoud et al., 2010, Gibson and Roberfroid, 1995, Teitelbaum and Walker, 2002, Ventura et al., 2009, Gibson, 1998). Our results showed the > 30 kDa fraction of the *E. cava* Celluclast extract enhanced the growth effect on L. plantarum at all used concentrations than those of the < 30 kDa fraction. Also, the crude polysaccharide isolated from the > 30 kDa fraction markedly and dose-dependently increased the growth of L. plantarum. This result indicates the major active compound for the growth of LAB is a polysaccharide component. As indicated above, the crude polysaccharide might be a natural seaweed fibre as a high molecular weight polymer that passes through the gut too rapidly to allow bacterial utilization.

Here, we showed that the original *E. cava*, its Celluclast extract, and/or 100% ethanol extracts have the anti-bacterial activities on five pathogen bacteria including *E. tarda, S. iniae, V. anguillarum, S. parauberis*, and *V. harveyi*. The pathogen bacteria used in this study are known as representative bacteria causing the aquaculture outbreaks of infectious diseases.



Recently, the aquaculture outbreaks of infectious diseases caused by viruses, bacteria, and parasites are considered to be a major economic problem, inflicting severe loss on fish production in Southeast Asia (Go, 2006). Among them, the use of antibiotics orchemotherapeutics for therapy of microbial diseases in fish is costly, difficult, not particularly effective and may createenvironmental hazards (Immanuel et al., 2004; Kim et al.,2002; Kwon et al., 2002; Sivaram et al., 2004). When we considered the problems, E. cava might be a beneficial prebiotic via inducing the growth of LBA products and inhibiting the growth of the pathogen bacteria without side effects. In addition, the secondary metabolites produced by the original E. cava from the L. plantarum-contained MRS medium showed the anti-bacterial activity on the pathogen bacteria. Recent studies reported that LAB havebeen used in both artificial feed and live feed (Robertson et al., 2000), such as Artemia and rotifers (Harzevili et al., 1998; Planas et al., 2004). In the previous study, a diet containing live L. *plantarum* was shown tohave some positive effects on growth and feeding efficiency, as well assurvival rate, in olive flounder (Go, 2006). This suggests that the enhancement of probiotics and the production of the secondary metabolites induced by E. cava and their anti-bacterial activities supported to be the possibility as a prebiotic. Also, previous our study showed that E. cava led to the immune activation and proliferation/differentiation of immune cells (Ahn et al., 2013). With these results, E. cava might be a potential prebiotic showing some positive effects on growth and feeding efficiency, as well assurvival rate, in olive flounder.

Taken together, this study suggests that *E. cava* consisted of a polysaccharide of might be a natural prebiotic via enhancing LAB and inhibiting pathogen bacteria. Also, our conclusion from this evidence is that *E. cava* can be used and applied as a useful prebiotic.



Part II

Effect of *Ecklonia cava* on the growth and host immune response in *in vivo* system



ABSTRACT

Olive flounder also known as Japanese flounder in Japan is one of the commercial important marine finfish species cultured inKorea and Japan. The feed used for the flounder requires high prime cost and arises environmental pollution and many different stresses and diseases. The purpose of this study is to evaluate whether *Ecklonia cava* (E. cava) as a prebiotic via inducing the growth and production of secondary metabolites of lactic acid bacteria leads to the growth and host immune response of olive flounder. The result showed that fish fed a diet supplemented with 1 % of the original E. cavaincreased the growth and the body weight of Olive flounder. Also, the supplements of the 1% original E. cava and the 0.5% EPE decreased the mortality of oliveflounder, whereas did not show a significant difference in the biochemical profile. In addition, the supplements of the 1% original E. cava showed the highest respiratory burst, lysozyme, and myeloperoxidase activity in oliveflounder. Further experiment showed the supplements of the 1% original E. cava and 0.1% and/or 0.5% EPE markedly decreased the accumulative mortality of oliveflounder infected by pathogen bacteria (Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio anguillarum). Taken together, these results suggest that E. cava as a prebiotic via the enhancing the growth of probiotics including LAB and inhibiting the growth of pathogen bacteria led to the host immune response in fish injected by pathogen bacteria.



1. Introduction

During the last 15 years, cultured fish production has become more than double and marine aquaculture industries in South Korea produced a number of fish species (Cha, 2010, Harikrishnan et al., 2010). Among the cultured fish, olive flounder also known as Japanese flounder in Japan, Paralichthysolivaceus is one of the commercial important marine finfish species cultured inKorea and Japan and its culture production has increased rapidly since thelate 1980's in Korea, reached to 34,533 tons in 2003 (Statistical Year Book of Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries, 2003). Recently, in the aquaculture system, many new problems have been arising:environmental pollution (Kikuchi et al. 2000), along with many differentstresses and diseases (Murata et al., 1996), lower marketing value (Nakagawaand Kasahara, 1986). In particular, the aquaculture outbreaks of infectious diseases caused by viruses, bacteria, and parasites are considered to be a major economic problem, inflicting severe loss on fish production in Southeast Asia (Harikrishnan et al., 2010). Among these infectious diseases, bacteria diseases of the cultured fishhave frequently affected to economic losses (Toranzo et al., 2005). In the aquaculture of olive flounder, most bacterial diseases are caused by distinct pathogen bacteria, such as E. tarda, Streptococcus sp. and Vibrio sp. (Go, 2006). Edwardsiella tarda is the etiological agent of several diseases of freshwater andmarine fish, causing septicemia with extensive skin lesions and affectingmuscles and internal organs, such as the liver, kidney and spleen (Plumb, 1993). Streptococcal infection of fish is considered a reemerging disease affecting avariety of wild and cultured fish throughout the world, and should beregarded as a complex of similar diseases caused by different genera and species capable of inducing central nervous damage characterized by suppurative exophthalmia and meningoencephalitis (Toranzo et al., 2005). Pathogenic Vibrio sp., the etiological agent of classical Vibriosis, iswidely distributed and causes a typical hemorrhagic



septicemia in a widevariety of warm- and cold-water species of economic importance (Toranzo etal., 2005). At these points, many researchers have studied about the treatmentand relief using antibiotics or chemotherapeutics on the serious disease caused by the bacteria (Immanuel et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2002; Kwon et al., 2002; Sivaram et al., 2004), but antibiotic use in aquaculture may be detrimentalto the environment and human health, and involves thedevelopment and transfer of resistance to other aquatic bacteria Petersen, fish pathogens, human pathogens, and theaccumulation of residual antibiotics in aquaculture products (Petersen et al., 2002, Alcaide et al., 2005, Schmidt et al., 1999, WHO, 1999, Huys et al, 2007, Cabello et al., 2006, WHO, 2006).

Brown seaweed AlariaceaeEcklonia cava(E. cava) is rich in xanthopophyll, fucoxathin, vitamins, vitamin precursors such as α -tocopherol, β -carotene, niacin, thiamin and ascorbic acid, and polysaccharides such as fucoidan, alginates, fucans and laminarans, which are water-soluble dietary fibers and phycocolloids. E. cava grows plentifully near Jeju Island of Korea (Guiry & Bulunden., 1991) and, reportedly, contains polyphenol and polysaccharide compounds than other brown seaweeds (Heo et al., 2005a). A number of studies have been evaluated in an attempt tobiological activities of E. cava(Ahn et al., 2007, 2008a,b and 2010; Kim et al., 2006a; Athukorala et al., 2006 and 2009; Kim et al. 2006b). In particular, previous studies have showed Lactobacillus brevis-fermented Ecklonia cava (E. cava) has antiinflammatory, radio-protective and anti-oxidant effects. In addition, the fermented E. cava using bacteriaLactobacillus brevis increased the protein contents in comparison with the nonfermented E. cava (Lee et al., 2011, 2013). From these results, we thought that the protein contents increased by fermentation process might be related to the growth of *Lactobacillus* brevis induced during fermentation process. Normally, Lactobacillus brevis is a kind of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) known as a common type of probiotics that may confer a health benefit on the host. In the last decade, probiotics, especially lactic acid bacteria (LAB), as a dietary



supplement, have been widely employed to protect fish from various infectious diseases (VerschuereGatesoupe, 2000).Many researchers have reported that LAB probiotics have been shown to be effective against edwardsiellosis, furunculosis, and vibriosis (Gatesoupe, 1999, Gildberg and Mikkelsen, 1998, Nikoskelainen et al., 2001). In addition, LAB probiotics havebeen considered safe for food fish and their immunological response against harmful pathogens ininhibiting the growth of Aeromonas salmonicida, Vibrio anguillarum, and Flavobacterium psychrophilum has been proven in rainbow trout (Gildberg and Mikkelsen, 1998, Nikoskelainen et al., 2001). With these reports, recently, the application of probiotics is increasinglyused in disease control against fish pathogens (Brunt and Austin, 2005, Kim and Austin, 2006, Brunt et al., 2007, Pieters et al., 2008). The materials enhancing the growth of LAB probiotics are known as prebiotics. This means applying the LAB probiotic as an additive of feeds for olive flounder with pathogen bacteria diseases and evaluating the possibility of *E. cava* as a beneficial prebiotic on the growth of LAB are so valuable.

Therefore, the present study investigated whether the capacities of *E. cava* as a prebiotic via the enhancing the growth of probiotics including LAB and inhibiting the growth of pathogen bacteria such as *Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae* and *Vibrio harveyi* affect to the host immune response in fish injected by pathogen bacteria.



2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Preparation of samples

Ecklonia cava(*E. cava*) was collected from the coast of Jeju Island, South Korea. Then, they were respectively washed with fresh water, freeze-dried and pulverized into powder with a grinder. The freeze-dried samples were used for next experiments.

2.2. Preparation of ethanol extracts from *E. cava* (EPE)

Here, 100% ethanol extracts (EPE) were prepared from *E. cava*. After freeze-dry, the *E. cava* powders (1 g) were respectivelyhomogenized in 100% ethanol and aqueous (100 ml). After 24 h, the samples were obtained and kept at -20°C for further experiments.

2.3. Pathogen bacteria culture

Six kinds of pathogen bacteria such as *Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio anguillarum, Vibrio harveyi* and *Streptococcus parauberis* was obtained from the KCTC (Korean Collection for Type Culture, Daejeon, Korea) (Table 2-1). These bacteria were incubated in BHIA broth or agar for *Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, Vibrio anguillarum,* and *Streptococcus parauberis* and TSA broth or agar for *Vibrio harveyi* at 25°C until use.



Table 2-1 List of strains used of antibacterial experiment.

	Strains	Number
	Edwardsiella tarda	KCTC 12267
Bacteria	Streptococcus iniae	KCTC 3657
	Vibrio harveyi	KCTC 12724



2.4. Preparation of the original E. cava, EPS, and L. plantarum supplemented diets

The basic experimental diet was in the form of a commercial extrudedpellet (Daebong, Jeju, Kore). The original *E. cava* and EPE were added to the diet at 0.1, 0.5 or 1 %. The commercial diet wassoaked in the desired concentrations of the original *E. cava* and EPE to absorb the fluid. The 1% of *L. plantarum* was mixed to the prepared all feed before feeding and the diets with the probiotic were then fed to all fish twice daily for 16 wks.

2.5. Fish

Olive flounder (mean body weight 300~350 g) were purchased from a private hatchery (Geumdeung, Jeju Island, South Korea), transferred into the laboratory and acclimated for one week. Cylindricalpolypropylene (PP) tanks (8 m in diameter, 1.5 m in height)were used asexperimental tanks. Each tank was stocked with 1,800 olive flounder, andthe water was changed 10-15 times a day before an initiation of the samples supplemented feeding trial. Seawater temperature (16~18°C), dissolved oxygen content (8.23~9.37 mg/l), and salinity (27.68~31.36 ppt), pH (7.5~8.7) during the experimental feeding period were maintained, respectively. During the experimental period (16 wks), fish were fed with commercially extruded pellet (Suhyup Feed Co. Ltd., Korea) twice a day (06:00 and 17:00 h).

Experimental group were divided into four groups following; control group was fed containing the only 1% *L. plantarum*,group I was fed containing the 1% *L. plantarum* with 1% original *E. cava*, group II was fed containing the 1% *L. plantarum* with 0.1% EPE, and group III was fed containing the 1% *L. plantarum* with 0.5% EPE.



2.6. Body weight and mortality measurement

At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed a diet supplemented with 1 % of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE for 16 wks. Then, the body weight and mortality rate were checked at every 4 wks for 16 wks.

2.7. Blood sampling

At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed a diet supplemented with 1 % of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. At 16 wks, blood samples (0.5 ml, n ¹/₄ 6) were drawn via the caudal vessels, punctured using a heparincoated needle and syringe. Heparin was used as an anticoagulant. The collected blood was allowed to clot at a room temperature for 30 min and then kept at 4°C for 3 hrs. The clotted sample was centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 min at 4°Cto collect the serum, which was analyzed within 16 hrs. Individual fish weresampled only once to avoid affecting the assays with multiplebleeds and handling stress in the fish.

2.8. Physiological and chemical analysis of blood

To identify the physiological and chemical analysis in serum, total protein (TP), tryglyceride (TRIG), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), glucose (GLU), phosphorus (PHOS),cholesterol (CHOL), and hematocrit (HT) were examined using an automatic analyzer (Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany).



2.9. Nitroblue tetrazolium reduction analysis (NBT)

To evaluate efects of the original *E. cava* and EPEon the production of intracellular oxidative radicalby neutrophils in blood during respiratory burst, nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT)was evaluated according to Anderson and Siwicki (1994) with a slight modification. At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimentalgroups were fed a diet supplemented with 1 % of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. At 16 wks, blood samples were collected. Briefly, blood samples were mixed with0.2% NBTcontaining 1 μ g/ml PMA in equal proportion (1:1), and incubated for 30 min at a room temperature. Then 50 μ lof the mixture was taken out and dispensed in ependorff tubes. For solubilisation of reduced formazen product, 1 ml of dimethyl formamide (DMSO, Sigma, USA) was added and centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 5 min. Finally, the supernatant was collected and the extent of NBT reduction was measured at an optical density of 540 nm using a micro-reader (Packard spectrocountTM, Austria). DMSO was used as the blank.

2.9. Lysozyme activity

At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed a diet supplemented with 1 % of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. The lysozyme functions by attacking peptidoglycans (found in the cell walls of bacteria, especially grampositive bacteria) and hydrolyzing the bond that connects N-acetylmuramic acid with the fourth carbon atom of N-acetylglucosamine. Lysozyme can act to as an innate opsonin, or as an activity of lytic enzyme. At 16 wks, a turbidometric assay utilizing lyophilized *Micrococcus lysodeikticus(M. lysodeikticus*) cells (Sigma, USA) was used to determine



lysozyme activity with a slight modification of previously suggested methods(Kumari and Sahoo, 2005, Cha, 2010). *M. lysodeikticus*suspended in 0.02 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 5.5) at a concentration of 0.2 mg/ml was added to 15 μ l of serum in a 96-well microtitre plate. Immediately after adding 150 μ l of*M. lysodeikticus*, optical density was taken. The absorbance was measured at every 5 min intervals for 60 min at 450 nm. A unit of lysozyme activity was defined as the amount of sample causing a decrease in absorbance of 0.001/min.

2.10. Myeloperoxidase (MPO) assay

At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed a diet supplemented with 1 % of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. At 16 wks, plasma was obtained from prechilled heparin anticoagulant tubes. MPO analysis was carried out using a Bioxytech enzyme-linked immunoassay for fish MPO. Samples were incubated in the each well of a microtiter plate coated with a monoclonal antibody against MPO. A 100µl of the sample (1:15 dilution of plasma) or standard was incubated at 37°C for 2 hrs. Then, the wells were aspirated and washed, and MPO polyclonal antibody (100 µl) was added to each well. The plate was again incubated at 37°C for 2 hrs. The wash procedure was repeatedly performed, avidin-coupled alkaline phosphatase solution (100 µl) was added, and the plates were further incubated for 2 hrs. The wash procedure was repeated a third time, and *p*nitrophenyl phosphate (100 µl) was added to each well. The plate was reacted at 37°C until the absorbance of the highest standard reached approximately 2.5. Finally, stop solution (50 µl) was added to each well, and the absorbance was measured at 405 nm using amicro-reader (Packard spectrocountTM, Austria).



2.11. Challenge test

Fish were divided into four groups of 30 each in three replicate groups. The groups were given dietary supplementation with the 1.0% of original*E. cava* and the 0.1% and 0.5% of EPE. On 16 wks of feeding, all groups were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with 100 μ l PBS containing *Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae, andVibrio harveyi*at 3 × 10⁵ ciliates mL⁻¹. Another group of 30 fish were used for uninfected control fed with basal diet (C). The respective diets were continued at end of the experiment. On day 1post-challenge, six fish randomly collected from each tank and anaesthetized with MS-222 (NaHCO₃ and tricaine methanesulphonate; Sigma Chemicals) 1:4000 in dechlorinated water for 2 min. The cumulative mortality was calculated by the following formula of Amend (1981) at every day.

2.12. Polymerase ChainReaction (PCR)

Kidney and liver tissue of pathogen bacteria-injected oliveflounder were used for PCR. To identify of specific regions of *Vibrio harveyi,Edwardsiella tarda* and *Streptococcus iniae*, PCR of this cDNA purified from kidney and liver and the primer (Bioneer, Daejeon, South Korea),shown in Table 2-2, was performed for 40 cycles witha 5-min denaturing step at 94°C, a 1min annealingstep at 55 to 60°C, and a 20min extension phase at72°C using the TaKaRa PCR machine (Takara Bio,Shiga, Japan). PCR products were run on a 1.5% EtBr/agarose gel and visualized by UV transillumination.



Primer	Oligonucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Expected sizes	Target gene	Reference
VH-K1	CAAGGCACACTTGACGAGCT	(29h-	are a D	Oh(2008)
VH-K2	AAACCGCCTTCTTCAGTTAA	638bp	rpoB	
etfD-F	GGTAACCTGATTTGGCGTTC	4451	etfD	Castro et al. (2010)
etfD-R	CCTAATTCTGTAATCGCTCC	445bp		
LOX-1	AAGGGGAAATCGCAAGTGCC	0701		Mata et al. (2004)
LOX-2	ATATCTGATTGGGCCGTCTAA	870bp	lctO	

Table 2-2 Primer sets used in the present study for the detection of three bacteria.



2.13. Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed using the statistical package for the social science (SPSS) package for Windows (Version 10). Values were expressed as means \pm standard error (SE). A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.



3. **RESULTS**

3.1. The original *E. cava* induced the growth of oliveflounder as increasing the body weight

The growth performance of fingerling flounder fed various experimentaldiets for 16 wks is shown in figure 2-1. The body weight (g) of fish was measured every 4 wks for 16 wks. The final weight of fish fed dietscontaining the 1% original *E. cava*was higher than that of fish fed adiet only*L. plantarum*-treated control (Fig. 2-1). However, fish fed dietscontaining with the 0.1% and 0.5% EPEs have no significant difference compared with non-treated control (Fig. 2-1). These results showed that the supplement of original *E. cava* effectively improved the growth of oliveflounder.

3.2. The supplements of the 1% original *E. cava* and the 0.5% EPE decreased the mortality of oliveflounder

To access the effects of the 1% original *E. cava* and its 0.1% and 0.5% EPE on oliveflounder, the number of mortality of fish was measured at every 4 wks for 16 wks. The number of mortality in fish fed a control diet was markedly increased up to 400% at 4 wks and gradually decreased up to 16 wks (Fig. 2-2). Also, the supplementations of the 1% original *E. cava* and the 0.1% EPEshowed the similar pattern to fish fed a control diet, but the number of mortality of fish feddiet supplemented with the 1% of original *E. cava* and the 0.1% EPEshowed the similar pattern to fish fed a control diet, but the number of mortality of fish feddiet supplemented with the 1% of original *E. cava* and the 0.1% EPEdecreased the number of mortality in fish fed a control diet. However, the supplementations of the 0.5% EPEdid not show significant changes.





Figure.2-1.





Figure.2-2.




Figure.2-3.



Moreover, the accumulated mortality of fish fed a control diet was markedly increased up to approximately 750% at 16 wks, whereas the supplement of the 1% original *E. cava* and the 0.1% EPE markedly decreased the mortality of fish (Fig. 2-3).

3.3. The supplements of the 1% original *E. cava* and the 0.1% and 0.5% EPE did not significant difference in the biochemical profilein oliveflounder

To access the biochemical profileof the 1% original *E. cava* and its 0.1% and 0.5% EPE on oliveflounder, the serumof fish was used at 16 wks. To identify the physiological and chemical analysis in serum, total protein (TP), tryglyceride (TRIG), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), glucose (GLU), phosphorus (PHOS), cholesterol (CHOL), and hematocrit (HT) were examined. The biochemical profile such as TP, TRIG, AST, ALT, GLU, PHOS, CHOL, and HT levels did not significantly change on 16 wks in fish fed with any diet (Table 2-3).

3.4. The supplements of the 1% original *E. cava* showed the highest respiratory activityin oliveflounder

At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed a diet supplemented with 1 % of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. At 16 wks, the superoxide anion production of respiratory activity was measured.



Table 2-3 2-3 The physiological and chemical analysis in blood.

Diet	TP (g/dL)	TRIG (mg/dL)	AST (U/L)	ALT (U/L)	GLU (mg/dL)	PHOS (mg/dL)	CHOL (mg/dL)	HT (%)
Control	5.18 ±0.26	111.67 ±31.79	59.83 ±15.02	16.33 ±5.85	22.33 ±3.61	9.72±0.66	175.17±34.44	17.95 ±2.39
<i>E. cava</i> 1 %	5.32 ± 0.22	130.83 ±21.30	52.00 ±16.47	16.00 ±5.22	18.33 ±7.33	9.72 ±1.52	189.20 ±28.32	23.02 ± 2.01
EPE 0.5 %	5.05 ±0.29	100.50 ±41.07	55.67 ±11.13	19.17 ±6.77	16.33 ±4.84	6.33 ±0.63	146.83 ±40.06	22.17 ±2.81
EPE 0.1 %	5.12 ± 0.33	128.75 ±38.15	51.60 ±9.71	15.80 ±12.97	20.00 ± 3.03	10.45 ±1.64	183.00 ±25.37	21.75 ±1.94

TP - Total protein, TRIG - Tryglyceride, AST - Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT - Alanine aminotransferase, GLU - Glucose PHOS - Phosphorus, CHOL - Cholesterol, HT - Hematocrit



As shown in figure 2-4, the supplementation with the 1.0% of original *E. cava* and the 0.1% and 0.5% of EPE considerably increased the superoxide anion production, compared to the fish fed a control diet (Fig. 2-4). In particular, the supplementation of 1% original *E. cava* led to the highest respiratory burst activity with the enhanced superoxide formation in olive flounder. These results indicated that the supplements of the 1% original *E. cava* and the 0.1% and 0.5% EPE enhanced the superoxide anion production of respiratory activity in olive flounder.

3.5. The supplements of the 1% original *E. cava* showed the highest lysozyme activityin oliveflounder

At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed a diet supplemented with 1.0% of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. At 16 wks, the lysozyme activity was measured. The lysozyme activity was significantly enhanced in fish fedwith 1.0% of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE on week 16 (Fig. 2-5). In particular, fishfed a diet supplemented with 1.0% of the original *E. cava* showed the markedly highest lysozyme activity, compared to the others.





Figure 2-4.





Figure 2-5.



3.6. The supplements of the 1% original *E. cava* showed the highest myeloperoxidase activityin oliveflounder

At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed a diet supplemented with 1.0% of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. At 16 wks, the myeloperoxidase activity was measured. The myeloperoxidase activity was significantly enhanced in fish fedwith 1.0% of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 of EPE on week 16, whereas did not show significant change in the fish fed with 0.5% EPE (Fig. 2-5). Particularly, fishfed a diet supplemented with 1.0% of the original *E. cava* showed the markedly highest myeloperoxidase activity, compared to the others.

3.7. The supplements of the 1% original *E. cava* and 0.1% and/or 0.5% EPE markedly decreased the cumulative mortality of oliveflounder

In the *in vivo* trial, mortality from *Edwardsiella tarda, Streptococcus iniae* and *Vibrio harveyi* in fish fed diets of 1.0% of the original *E. cava* and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPEwas accessed. First of all, to identify whether the pathogen bacteria (*E. tarda, S. iniae* and *V. harveyi*) were injected to fish, PCR assay was performed. Agarose gel electrophoresis showed the mRNA expression levels of specific regions of *V. harveyi,E. tarda* and *S. iniae*(Fig. 2-7).





Figure 2-6.





Figure 2-7.





At the conclusion of the rearing experiment, fish from the experimental groups were fed diets supplemented with 1.0% of the original E. cava and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. The injection of E. tarda, S. iniae and V. harveyimarkedly increased thecumulative mortalities of fish fed a diet without samples (Fig. 2-8, 2-9, and 2-10). When the E. tardawas injected to fish, the 1.0% of the original E. cava and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE significantly decreased the mortality increased in a control diet fed and E. tardainjected fish (Fig. 2-8). Among them, the 1.0% of the original E. cava showed the highest reduction activity on the mortality increased in a control diet fed and E. tarda injected fish (Fig. 2-8). In addition, flounder infected with E. tarda were found to have heavyviscous liquid in the body, liver congestion, and abnormal kidney and spleengrowth, i.e., similar anatomical symptoms as naturally infected olive flounder. They were inhibited by the supplementations of the 1.0% original E. cava and 0.1 and 0.5% of EPE. Also, when the S. iniae was injected to fish, the 1.0% of the original E. cava and 0.1% of EPE significantly decreased the cumulative mortality increased in a control diet fed and S. iniaeinjected fish, whereas 0.5% of EPE did not affect (Fig. 2-9). Additionally, the supplementations of the 1.0% original E. cava and 0.1 % of EPE decreased the symptoms of fish infected with S. iniaesuch as skinulcers confined to scale-covered parts of the body surface, and often diffuseor petechial hemorrhage in internal organs. Moreover, when the V. harveyi was injected to fish, the 1.0% of the original E. cava and 0.1% of EPE significantly decreased the mortality increased in non-treated and V. harveyi injected fish, whereas 0.5% of EPE did not affect (Fig. 2-10). Furthermore, the 1.0% of the original E. cava and 0.1% of EPEimproved the symptoms of fish affected by V. harveyi with typical signs of generalized septicemia with hemorrhaging on the base of fins, exophthalmia, corneal opacity, and edematous lesions predominantly centeredon the hypodermis.





Figure 2-8.





Figure 2-9.





Figure 2-10.



3. Discussion

The present study first demonstrates that theoriginal *E. cava* induced the growth of olive flounder as increasing the body and decreased mortality of fish. Also, *E. cava* showed the highest lysozyme, myeloperoxidase, and the accumulative mortality of olive flounder infected by pathogen bacteria. These effects were due to the beneficial capacity of *E. cava* as a prebiotic.

A number of approach for inhibiting fish diseases have been attempt with the use of probiotics or beneficial bacteria as dietary supplements which control pathogen bacteria through various mechanism. Indeed, the probiotics as a dietary supplement has been proposed as an alternative mode of improving the growth and health management of cultured organisms (Yano et al., 1992; Amar et al., 2000; Ellis et al., 1990). This has been well documented with several species with probiotics enriched diets such as grouper (Joborn et al., 1997, Miettinen et al., 1996, Panigrahi et al., 2004), tilapia (Nikoskelainen et al., 1997; Ringe et al., Robertson et al., 2000), sea bass (Cuesta et al., 2003, Siwicki et al.1994), and white shrimp (Ellis et al., 2001, Raida et al., 2003, Vendrell et al., 2008) against various pathogens. Our results indicated that the supplement of 1% original E. cava withL. plantarum effectively improved the growth and decreased the mortality of oliveflounder. Also, the supplement of 0.5% EPE affected to the decrease of the mortality of oliveflounder, but did not affect to the weight. The results indicate that the supplement of 1% original E. cavais more effective and valuable in the culture system of oliveflounder. Also, part 1 showed that E. cava enhanced the growth of LBA and the secondary metabolites produced from LBA after treatment of E. cava inhibited the growth of the pathogen bacteria by playing as role in a prebiotic. In addition, Fuller (1989) reported that the increase in growth rates can be attributed to the improvement in the intestinal microbial flora balance. These results suggest the co-



application of both *E. cava* and LBA can induce the more beneficial effects on the improvement of the growth and mortality in oliveflounder. At these points, this study is a valuable as a first study.

Normally, the innate immune system of fish is the first line and primitive of defense against pathogen bacteria in aqua culture system (Harikrishnan et al., 2010). In innate immune system, a variety of immune cells or elements, such as macrophages, monocytes, granulocytes, and humoral elements, such as lysozymes and the complement system play as important roles (Secombes and Fletcher, 1992, Magnadóttir, 2006). One proposedmechanism by Cross (2002) is that the regulatory signals generated by probiotics stimulate host immunity to enhance protection against pathogens. Recently, prebiotics also can affect to the innate immunity in in vitro and in vivo (Sweeney et al., 2011, Ramnani et al. 2012, Nakayama and Oishi, 2013). In addition, modulating immune responses with probiotic bacteria havebeen shown to have several effects in a variety of fish, such asinduction of proinflammatory cytokines, stimulating the activity of natural killer cells, increasing mucosal and systemic antibodyproduction, activating phagocytic activity and increasing lysozymeand complement activity (Harikrishnan et al., 2010, Matsuzaki and Chin, 2000, Miettinen et al., 1996, Panigrahi et al, 2004). Generally, the inflammatory response induced by the influx of phagocytesto the infection site is a potential innate defense mechanism of fishagainst pathogens (Ellis, 2001). Phagocytes produce toxic oxygen forms during respiratory burst (Raida et al., 2003), which has been accepted as an accurate parameter to quantifythe intensity of a respiratory burst (Secombes, 1990). In fish, phagocytic cells, such as monocytes/macrophages and/or neutrophils can generate superoxide anion, which is a measure of respiratory burst activity, and affect to kill pathogen (Ellis, 2001, Jørgensen et al., 1993, Sharp and Secombes, 1993). Also, the phagocytic cells can induce the induction of



serum lysozyme known as a kind of obsonin that leads to bactericidal activity and activates the complement systems and phagocytes (Fletcher and White, 1973, Murray and Fletcher, 1976, Jolles and Jolles, 1984). Myeloperoxidase activity also can be activated by the phagocytic cells (Palic et al., 2005a and 2005b). Compared to the control group, the supplements of the 1% original E. cavawithL. plantarumas a feed for fish markedlyenhanced innate immune system via activating the respiratory burst, the lysozyme, and themyeloperoxidasein oliveflounder. These results were supported by the capacities of LAB on the enhancing the activities of phagocytes, lysozyme, and complement indicated in the previous reports (Panigrahi et al., 2004, Schiffrin et al., 1997) as well as the beneficial capacity of E. cava on the growth of LBA indicated in part 1. Possibly, such enhanced factors of the innate immune systemmay have provided protection/defense against infection by the pathogen. Interestingly, the supplements of the 1% original E. cava and/or EPEs withL. plantarum reduced mortalities following challenge with E. tarda, S. iniae and V. harveyi for 2 wks. In part 1, this study indicated that a polysaccharide component included in E. cava can be a prebiotic as showing the highest growth effect of LAB and the anti-bacteria activity of the secondary metabolite produced from LAB. Previously, dietary supplementation with seaweed extracts has been demonstrated to exert modifying effects on selectgenera of the gutassociated microbiota (Lynch et al., 2010; Reilly et al., 2008). More specifically, consumption of diets supplemented with fucoidan has demonstrated stimulatory effects on numbers of lactobacilli in the GIT (Lynch et al., 2010, McDonnellet al., 2010). In addition, recent reports showed that novel dietary polysaccharides derived from seaweed species have demonstrated exertive effects on the gut associated microbiota, which includes stimulation of lactic-acid bacteria such as lactobacilli (Lynch et al., 2010; McDonnell et al., 2010) and prohibitive effects on Enterobacteria (Lynch et al., 2010) including Escherichia coli (O'Doherty et al., 2010). With previous finding, these results suggest that the beneficial

ς.



capacities of *E. cava* on the enhancement of innate immunity and the inhibition of bacteria growth, the enhancement of LAB, and the production of secondary metabolites from LAB in gut-related immune system are responsible for the lower mortalities in pathogen bacteria-infected fishes.

According to these results, it could be concluded that the supplement of the original *E*. *cava*and*L. plantarum*mixed diets can play roles in a prebiotic and be used to enhance the innate immune status and gut-related immune system, thereby improving the diseases resistance in pathogen bacteria-infected oliveflounder. Further studies including field and full commercial cost benefit analysis, are necessary in the future.



REFERENCES

- Ahn G, Hwang IS, Park EJ, Kim JH, Jeon YJ, Jee Y (2008a) Immunomodulatory effects of an enzymatic extract from *Ecklonia cava* on murine splenocytes. Mar. Biotechnol. 10, 278-289.
- Ahn G, Park E, Lee KW, Shin, T., Shin TK, Park JW, Woo HC, Jeon YJ, Jee Y (2008b) Antiinflammatory effects of enzymatic extract from *Ecklonia cava* on TPA-induced ear skin edema. Food Sci. Biotechnol. 17 (4), 745-750.
- Ahn G, Park E, Lee WW, Hyun JW, Lee KW, Shin TK, Jeon YJ,Park JW, Jee Y (2010) Enzymatic extract from *Ecklonia cava* induces the activation of lymphocytes by IL-2 production through the classical NF-κB pathway. Mar. Biotechnol (NY). 13, 66-73.
- Ahn GN, Kim KN, Cha SH, Song CB, Lee J, Heo MS, Yeo IK, Lee NH, Jee Y, Kim JS, Heu MS, Jeon YJ (2007) Antioxidant activities of phlorotannins purified from *Ecklonia cava* on free radical scavenging using ESR and H₂O₂-mediated DNA damage. Eur. Food Res. Technol. 226, 71-79.
- Alcaide E, Blasco M-D, Esteve C (2005) Occurrence of drug-resistant bacteria in two European eel farms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 3348-3350.
- Amar EC, Kiron V, Satoh S, Okamoto N, Watanabe T (2000) Effect of dietary b-carotene on the immune response of rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Fish Sci. 66, 1068-1075.

Amend DF (1981). Potency testing of fish vaccines. Dev. Biol. Standard. 49, 447-454.

Anderson DP, Siwicki AK (1994) Duration of protection against *Aeromonas salmonicida* in brook trout immunostimulated with glucan or chitosan by injection or immersion.Progressive Fish-Culturist. 56, 258-261.

Athukorala Y, Jung WK, Vasanthan T, Jeon YJ (2006) An anticoagulative polysaccharide



from an enzymatic hydrolysate of *Ecklonia cava*. Carbohyd.Polym. 66, 184-191.

- Athukorala Y, Ahn GN, Jee YH, Kim GY, Kim SH, Ha JH, Kang JS, Lee KW, Jeon YJ (2009) Antiproliferative activity of sulfated polysaccharides isolated from an enzymatic digest of *Ecklonia cava* on the U-937 cell line. J. Appl. Phycol. 21, 307-314.
- Boucher J, Daviaud D, Simeon-Remaud M, Carpene C, Saulnier-Blache JS, Monsan P, ValetP (2003) Effect of non-digestible gluco-oligosaccharides on glucose sensitivity inhigh fat diet fed mice. J. Physiol. Biochem. 59, 169-173.
- Brunt J, Austin B (2005) Use of a probiotic to control lactococcosis and streptococcosisin rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum). J. Fish Dis. 28, 693-701.
- Brunt J, Newaj-Fyzul A, Austin B (2007) The development of probiotics for the control of multiple bacterial diseases of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum). J. Fish Dis. 30, 573-579.
- Cabello FC (2006) Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: a growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. Environ. Microbiol. 8, 1137-1144.
- Cha SH (2007) Effects of fermented fish meal from by-products derived in fish farms and chitosan coating moist pellet on culturing fish.MSc thesis, Jeju National University.
- Cross ML (2002) Immunoregulation by probiotic lactobacilli: proTh1 signals and their relevance to human health. Clin. Appl. Immunol. Rev. 3, 115-125.
- Cuesta A, Esteban MA, Meseguer J (2003) In vitro effect of chitin particles on innate cellular immune system of gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata L.). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 15, 1-11.
- Deville C, Gharbi M, Dandrifosse G, Peulen O (2007) Study on the effects of laminarin,a polysaccharide from seaweed, on gut characteristics. J. Sci. Food Agric. 87, 1717-





1725.

- Dierick N, Anneke O, Smet SD (2008) Effect of feeding intact brown seaweed Ascophyllum nodosum on some digestive parameters and on iodine content in edible tissues in pigs.J. Sci. Food Agric. 89, 584-594.
- Ellis AE (1990) Lysozyme assays. In: Stolen JS, Fletcher TC, Anderson DP, Roberson BS, van Muiswinkel WD, editors. Techniques in fish immunology. Fair Haven, NJ: SOS Publications; 101-104.
- Ellis AE (2001) Innate host defense mechanisms of fish against viruses and bacteria. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 25, 827-839.
- Fletcher T, White A (1973) Lysozyme activity in the plaice (Pleuronectes platessa L.). Experientia 29, 1283-1285.
- Gatesoupe FJ (1999) The use of probiotics in aquaculture. Aquaculture 180, 147-165.
- Gibson GR, Roberfroid MB (1995) Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: introducing the concept of prebiotics. J. Nutr. 125, 1401-1412.
- Gibson GR (1998) Dietary modulation of the human gut microflora using prebiotics. Br. J. Nutr. 80, 209-212.
- Gildberg A, Mikkelsen H (1998) Effects of supplementing the feed to Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) fry with lactic acid bacteria and immuno-stimulating peptides during a challenge trial with Vibrio anguillarum. Aquaculture 167, 103-113.
- Go GM (2006)Studieson the utilization of fermente cactis fruit (*Opuntiaficus-indica*) for olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. PhD thesis, Jeju National University.
- Grimoud J, Durand H, Courtin C, Monsan P, Ouarné F, Theodorou V, Roques C (2010) In vitro screening of probiotic lactic acid bacteria and prebiotic glucooligosaccharides to select effective synbiotics. Anaerobe 16, 493-500.



- Guiry MD, Bulunden G (1991) Seaweed Resource in Europe: Uses and potential, John Wiley& Sons Ltd, Chichester West Sussex, England.
- Harikrishnan R, Balasundaram C, Heo MS (2010) Effect of probiotics enriched diet on Paralichthys olivaceus infected with lymphocystis disease virus (LCDV), Fish and Shellfish Immunol. 29, 868-874.
- Heo SJ, Park EJ, Lee KW, Jeon YJ (2005a) Antioxidant activities of enzymatic extracts from brown seaweeds.Bioresour. Technol. 96, 1613-1623.
- Heo SJ, Park EJ, Lee KW, Jeon YJ (2005b) Antioxidative effect of proteolytic hydrolysates from Ecklonia cava on radical scavenging using ESR and H2O2-induced DNA damage. Food sci. 14, 614-620.
- Huys G, Bartie K, Cnockaert M, Oanh DTH, Phuong NT, Somsiri T, Chinabut S, Yusoff FMd, Shariff M, Giacomini M, Teale A, Swings J (2007) Biodiversity of chloramphenicol-resistant mesophilic heterotrophs from Southeast Asian aquaculture environments. Res. Microbiol. 158, 228-235.
- ImmanuelG, Vincybai VC, Sivaram V, Palavessam A, Marian MP (2004) Effect of butanolic extracts from terrestial herbs and seaweed onthe survival, growth and pathogen (*Vibrio parahaemolyticus*) load onshrimp *Penaeus indicus* juveniles. Aquacultur236,53-65.
- Joborn A, Olsson JC, Westerdahl A, Conway PL, Kjelleberg S (1997) Colonization in the fish intestinal tract and production of inhibitory substances in intestinal mucus and faecal extracts by Carnobacterium sp. strain K1. J. Fish Dis. 20, 383-392.
- Jolles P, Jolles J (1984) What's new in lysozyme research? Always a model system, today as yesterday. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 63, 165-189.
- Jørgensen JB, Sharp GJE, Secombes CJ, Robertsen B (1993) Effect of yeast cell wall glucan on the bactericidal activity of rainbow trout macrophages. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 3,



267-277.

- Kennedy CR (1994) Foreword. In: Pike AW and JW Lewis (eds), Parasitic Diseases of Fish 17. Samara Publishers, Tresaith, Dyfed, UK.623-629.
- Kikuchi K, Sugita H, Watanabe T(2000) Effect of dietary protein andlipid levels on growth and body composition of Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Suisan Zoshoku48,537-543.
- Kim DH, Austin B (2006) Innate immune responses in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss, Walbaum) induced by probiotics. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 21, 513-524.
- Kim KN, Heo SJ, Song CB, Lee JH, Heo MS, Yeo IK, Kang KY, Hyun JW, Jeon YJ (2006a) Protective effect of *Ecklonia cava* enzymatic extracts on hydrogen peroxide-induced cell damage.Process.Biochem. 41,2393-2240.
- Kim KN, Lee KW, Song CB, Jeon YJ (2006b) Cytotoxic activity of green and brown seaweeds collected from Jeju Island against four tumor cell lines. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 11, 17-24.
- Kim KW, Park GJ, Ok IH, Bai SC, Choi YJ, Shin IS (2002) Effectsof dietary synthetic amino acid supplementation in Korean Rockfish fry*Sebastes schlegeli*. Kor. J. Aquaculture. 15,157-163.
- Kim MM, Ta QV, Mendis E, Rajapakse N, Jung WK, Gyun HG, Jeon YJ, Kim SK (2006b) Phlorotannins in *Ecklonia cava* extract inhibit matrix metalloproteinase activity. Life Sci. 79, 1436-1443.
- Kumari J, Sahoo PK (2005) Effects of cyclophosphamide on the immune system and disease resistance of Asian catfish *Clarias batrachus*. Fish shellfish Immunol. 19, 307-316.
- Kwon MG, Lee YH, Park SU, Kim BS, Park SI (2002)The effects ofcharcoalin diet on the immune responses of flounder, *Paralichthysolivaceus*. Kor. J. Fish Pathol.15,17-24.



- Lee W, Ahn G, Arachchillage JP, Kim YM, Kim SK, Lee BJ, Jeon YJ (2011) A polysaccharide isolated from Ecklonia cava fermented by Lactobacillus brevisinhibits the inflammatory response by suppressing the activation of nuclear factor-κB in lipopolysaccharide-induced RAW 264.7 macrophages. J. Med. Food. 14 (12), 1546-1553.
- Lee W, Ahn G, Arachchillage JP, Yang X, Ko C, Kang MC, Lee BJ, Jeon YJ (2011) Enzymeassisted extraction of Ecklonia cava fermented with Lactobacillus brevis and isolation of an anti-inflammatory polysaccharide.Algae 26, 343-350.
- Lee W, Ahn G, Lee BJ, Wijesinghe WA, Kim D, Yang H, Kim YM, Park SJ, Jee Y, Jeon YJ (2013) Radio-protective effect of polysaccharides isolated from Lactobacillus brevisfermented Ecklonia cava. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 52, 260-266.
- Lynch MB, Sweeny T, Callan JJ, O'Sullivan JT, O'Doherty JV (2010) The effect of dietary laminaria derived laminarin and fucoidan on nutrient digestibility, nitrogen utilisation, intestinal mircoflora and volatile fatty acid concentration in pigs. J. Sci. Food. Agric. 90, 430-437.
- Magnadóttir B (2006) Innate immunity of fish (overview). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 20, 137-151.
- Matsuzaki T, Chin J (2000) Modulating immune responses with probiotic bacteria. Immunol.Cell. Biol. 78, 67-73.
- McDonnell P, Figat S, O' Doherty JV (2010) The effect of dietary laminarin and fucoidan in the diet of the weanling piglet on performance selected faecal microbial populations and volatile fatty acid concentrations. Animal 4, 579-585.
- Michel C, Lahaye M, Bonnet C, Mabeau M, Barry JL (1996) In vitro fermentation by human fecal bacteria of total and purified dietary fibres from brown seaweeds. Br. J. Nutr. 75, 263-280.



- Miettinen M, Vuopio-Varkila J, Varkila K (1996) Production of human tumor necrosis factor alpha, interleukin-6, and interleukin-10 is induced by lactic acid bacteria. Infect. Immun. 64, 5403-5405.
- Murata H, Sakai Y, Yamauchi K, Ito T, Tsuda T. Yoshida T, Fukudome M(1996) In vivo lipid peroxidation levels and antioxidantactivities of cultured and wild yellowtail. Fish. Sci. 62,64-68.
- Murray CK, Fletcher TC (1976) The immunohistochemical localization of lysozyme in plaice (Pleuronectes platessa L.) tissues. J. Fish Biol. 9, 329-334.
- Nakagawa H, Kasahara S(1986) Effect of Ulva-meal supplement to dieton the lipid metabolism of red sea bream. Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish. 52, 1887-1893.
- Nakayamal T, Oishi K (2013) Influence of coffee (Coffea arabica) and galactooligosaccharide consumption on intestinal microbiota and the host responses. FEMS Microbiol.Lett. 343, 161-168.
- Nikoskelainen S, Ouwehand AC, Bylund G, Salminen S (2001) Protection of rainbowtrout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) from furunculosis by Lactobacillus rhamnosus.Aquaculture198, 229-236.
- Nikoskelainen S, Ouwehand AC, Bylund G, Salminen S, Lilius EM (2003) Immune enhancement in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) by potential probiotic bacteria (Lactobacillus rhamnosus). Fish Shellfish Immunol.15, 443-452.
- O'Doherty JV, Dillon S, Figat S, Callan JJ, Sweeney T (2010) The effects of lactose inclusion and seaweed extract derived from Laminaria spp. on performance, digestibility of diet components and microbial populations in newly weaned pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 157, 173-180.
- Palic D, Andreasen C, Frank ED, Menzel BW, Roth J (2005a) Gradient separation and cytochemical characterisation of neutrophils from kidney of fathead minnow



(Pimephales promelas Rafinesque, 1820). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 18, 263-267.

- Palic D, Andreasen C, Menzel BW, Roth J (2005b) A rapid, direct assay to measure degranulation of primary granules in neutrophils from kidney of fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas* Rafinesque, 1820).Fish Shellfish Immunol. 19, 217-227.
- Panigrahi A, Kiron V, Kobayashi T, Puangkaew J, Satoh S, Sugita H (2004) Immune responses in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss induced by a potential probiotic bacteria Lactobacillus rhamnosus JCM 1136. Vet. Immunol.Immunopathol. 102, 379-388.
- Panigrahi A, Kiron V, Kobayashi T, Puangkaew J, Satoh S, Sugita H (2004) Immune responses in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss induced by a potential probiotic bacteria Lactobacillus rhamnosus JCM 1136. Vet. Immunol.Immunopathol. 102, 379-388.
- Petersen A, Andersen JS, Kaewmak T, Somsiri T, Dalsgaard A (2002) Impact of integrated fish farming on antimicrobial resistance in a pond environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 6036-6042.
- Pieters N, Brunt J, Austin B, Lyndon AR (2008) Efficacy of in-feed probiotics against Aeromonas bestiarum and Ichthyophthirius multifiliis skin infections in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss, Walbaum). J. Appl. Microbiol. 105, 723-732.
- PlumbJA (1993) Edward septicemia. In: Inglis, V., Roberts, R.J., Bromage, N.K., editors. Bacterial diseases of fish. Oxford: Black-well.61-73.
- Raida MK, Larsen JL, Nielsen ME, Buchmann K (2003) Enhanced resistance of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), against Yersinia ruckeri challenge following oral administration of *Bacillus subtilis* and *B. licheniformis* (BioPlus2B). J. Fish Dis. 26, 495-498.
- Ramnani P, Chitarrari R, Tuohy K, Grant J, Hotchkiss S, Philp K, Campbell R, Gill C,



Rowland I (2012) In vitro fermentation and prebiotic potential of novel low molecular weightpolysaccharides derived from agar and alginate seaweeds, Anaerobe 18, 1-6.

- Reilly P, O'Doherty JV, Pierce KM, Callan JJ, O'Sullivan JT, Sweeney T (2008) The effects of seaweed extract inclusion on gut morphology, selected intestinal microbiota, nutrient digestibility, volatile fatty acid concentrations and the immune status of the weaned pig. Animal 2, 1465-1473.
- Ringø E, Gatesoupe FJ (1998) Lactic acid bacteria in fish: a review. Aquaculture 160, 177-203.
- Rousseau V, Lepargneur JP, Roques C, Remaud-Simeon M, Paul F (2005) Prebiotic effects of oligosaccharides on selected vaginal lactobacilli and pathogenic microorganisms. Anaerobe 11, 145-153.
- Ruperez P, Saura-Calixto F (2001) Dietary fibers and physiochemical properties of edible seaweeds. Eur. Food Res. Technol. 212, 349-354.
- Salyers A, West S, Vercellotti J, Wilkins T (1997) Fermentation of mucins and plantpolysaccharides by anaerobic bacteria from the human colon. Appl. Env. Microbiol.34, 529-533.
- Schiffrin EJ, Brassart D, Servin AL, Rochat F, Donnet-Hughes A (1997) Immune modulation of blood leukocytes in humans by lactic acid bacteria: criteria for strain selection. Am. J. Clin. Nutr.66, 515-520.
- Schmidt AS, Bruun MS, Dalsgaard I, Pedersen K, Larsen JL (2000) Occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in fish-pathogenic and environmental bacteria associated with four Danish rainbow trout farms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 4908-4915.
- Secombes CJ, Fletcher TC (1992) The role of phagocytes in the protective mechanismsof fish. Annu. Rev. Fish Dis. 2, 53-71.

Secombes SJ (1990) Isolation of salmonid macrophages and analysis of their killing activity.

In: Stolen JS, Fletcher TC, Anderson DP, Roberson BS, van Muiswinkel WD, editors. Techniques in fish immunology. Fair Haven, NJ: SOS Publications. 137-154.

- Sharp GJE, Secombes CJ (1993) The role of reactive oxygen species in the killing of the bacterial fish pathogen Aeromonas salmonicida by rainbow trout macrophages. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 3,119-129.
- Siriwardhana N, Jeon YJ, Kim SH, Ha JH, Heo SJ, Lee KW (2004) Enzymatic hydrolysis for effective extraction of antioxidative compounds from Hizikia fusiformis. Algae 19, 59-68.
- Sivaram V, Babu MM, Immanuel G, Murugadass S, Citarasu T, Marian MP (2004) Growth and immune response of juvenile greasy groupers(*Epinephelus tauvina*) fed with berbal antibacterial activite principlesupplemented diets against *Vibrio harveyi* infections. Aquaculture 237, 9-20.
- Siwicki AK, Anderson DP, Rumsey GL (1004) Dietary intake of immunostimulants by rainbow trout affects non-specific immunity and protection against furunculosis. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.41, 125-139.
- Sweeney T, Dillon S, Fanning J, Egan J, O'Shea CJ, Figat S, Gutierrez JJM, Mannion C, Leonard F, O'Doherty JV (2011) Evaluation of seaweed-derived polysaccharides on indices of gastrointestinal fermentation and selected populations of microbiota in newly weaned pigs challenged with Salmonella Typhimurium, Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 165, 85-94.
- Teitelbaum JE, Walker WA (2002) Nutritional impact of pre- and probiotics as protective gastrointestinal organisms. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 22, 107-138.
- ToranzoAE, Magarinos B, Romalde JL (2005) A review of the mainbacterial fish disease in mariculture systems. Aquaculture 246,37-61.

Vendrell D, Balcazar JL, de Blas I, Ruiz-Zarzuela I, Girones O, Muzquiz JL (2008)



Protection of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) from lactococcosis by probiotic bacteria. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 31, 337-345.

- Ventura M, O'Flaherty S, Claesson MJ, Turroni F, Klaenhammer TR, van Sinderen D, O'Toole PW (2009) Genome-scale analyses of health-promoting bacteria: probiogenomics. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 7, 61-71.
- Verschuere L, Rombaut G, Sorgeloos P, Verstraete W (2000) Probiotic bacteria as biological control agents in aquaculture. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 64, 655-671.

Warrand J (2006) Healthy polysaccharides.Food Technol. Biotechnol. 44, 355-370.

- WHO (World Health Organization) (1999) Joint FAO/NACA/WHO Study Group on food safety issues associated with products from aquaculture. Tech Rep Ser No 883.
- WHO (World Health Organization) (2006) Report of a joint FAO/OIE/WHO expert consultation on antimicrobial use in aquaculture and antimicrobial resistance; Seoul, Republic of Korea.
- Wu SC, Wang FJ, Pan CL (2007) Growth and survival of lactic acid bacteria during the fermentation and storage of seaweed oligosaccharides solution. J. Marine Sci. Technol. 15, 104-114.
- YanoT, Mangidaar REF, Matsuyama H (1989) Enhancement of theresistance of cap *Cyprinus carpio*, to experimental *Edwardsiella tarda* infection, by some β-1,3-glucans. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 55,1815-1819.



Acknowledgement

대학을졸업후방황하던제가연구실에다시들어올수있게해주시고,때로는엄한아버지 처럼때로는자애로운어머니처럼이끌어주시고언제나진정한연구자의길이무엇인지직 접보여주신전유진교수님께가장먼저감사의말씀을올립니다. 교수님께서보여주신연 구자가걸어가야할길을늘생각하며앞으로더욱정진하고앞으로나아가겠습니다. 또한 제논문연구가바른방향으로나아갈수있게언제나지도해주신송춘복교수님, 이경준교 수님, 정준범교수님께깊은감사드립니다. 언제나힘들때큰형님처럼다독여주시고실험 이잘되도록물심양면으로지원해주신청룡수산의안용석연구소장님께감사하고, 감사 드립니다.

항상힘이되어주고, 밀어주신수진이형, 늘토닥여주시고제투정다받아주시는영원한 미소천사길남이형, 아닌듯하면서늘이것저것다챙겨주시는승홍이형, 몸은캐나다지만 마음은늘연구실에서도와주는성명이형, 시크하면서도따뜻한석천이형, 마음여린큰누 나선희누나, 동네좋은아저씨스리랑카뚱보칼파형, 이제그만결혼해요지혁이형주영아, 캐나다김여사아름이, 멋지고잘생긴민철이,뉴요커혜미, 우리실험실보물(?) 은아와나 레,보물사냥꾼뚱뚱보재영이,현수야서영아힘내라,매우활동적인락말,졸린눈윤택이, 오늘은 1점양혜원,마카오장장초,지난번에빠뜨려서미안한창익이모두모두너무정말최 고로고맙고사랑합니다.

그리고항상응원해주시고, 많은도움주신아쿠아그린텍장지태대표님, 같이고생해준 우리현기, 승현이, 진우, 승민이, 동휘와내졸업의일등공신현용이모두모두감사드리 고고맙습니다.



80

마지막으로, 사랑하는우리가족아버지, 어머니, 원정이와평생을같이할나의반쪽긴 내에게이논문을바칩니다.

모두모두감사하고사랑합니다.

